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Note: 
 
The information contained in this User Guide shall be subject to such 
modifications as may be necessary from time to time. 
 
As such, and for the purposes of the development of public educational 
materials in whatsoever regard, this document should therefore be 
regarded as an interim one.  
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ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
 

Civil Society Activism on Information 
 

…….TAKING UP THE GAUNTLETT FOR A BETTER JAMAICA  
 
 
 
Embarking on the Journey 
 
Upon the commencement of the Act, the challenge for all of us as Jamaicans will be to use 
the Act and the system it creates for accessing information.  
 
The Government’s mandate will continue to be the sustained education of government 
employees (and more specifically ATI administrators), the continued development and 
execution of quality public education and customer service programmes, and the exercise of 
the type of leadership and clear political will signaling its commitment to the Initiative.  
 
Even as we unhesitatingly invite you to use the Act and exercise the level of responsibility 
which our Nation has come to expect from us all, it is our simultaneous desire that in doing 
so, we come to understand the novelty of this new Initiative, appreciate that there will be 
stumbling blocks and a learning curve with consequential challenges and that through this 
appreciation, good will may prevail. 
 
The experience in the United States, where they have had Freedom of Information Laws for 
the past 30 years, shows that the early years are crucial in determining habits – on both sides. 
Let us help each other to establish good habits and foster the partnering which will be 
conducive to the advancement of a change in the culture. 
 
The Access to Information Initiative offers much from which to benefit and so in a sense, we 
are all stakeholders embarking on a quest for a more transparent and participatory 
democracy.  
 
Let us do so believing it can be done……………………….. 
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As the Government, we wish to continue to play our role in establishing proper standards 
and enabling the effective use of the Act. To that end, information which is believed will be of 
assistance has been included, which you are now invited to explore:    
 

 
A USER’S GUIDE 

TO THE ACCESS TO INFORMATION ACT 
 
 
The Access to Information Act was passed in June, 2002. It will give 
citizens and other persons a general legal right of access to official 
government documents which would otherwise be inaccessible. 
 
By recognising and upholding this right, the Act aims to reinforce 
fundamental democratic principles vital to: 
 

- improved , more transparent government; 
 
- greater accountability of government to its people; 

 
- increased public influence on and participation in 

national decision making; and 
  

- informed knowledge of the functioning of government. 
 
The Act therefore signals the departure from an age-old culture of secr
government and its day to day activities. 
 
 
The History of ATI 
 
Access to Information or Freedom of Information legislation, as it is ca
jurisdictions, has existed since 1776 and is in force in many countries. (
States, Australia, Canada and most of Europe.) 
 
The last ten years have seen a tremendous increase in the number of co
this type of legislation, the chief reasons being: 
 

- the rise of new democracies with constitutional guarantees   
      of the right to information; 

 
- an increased involvement of International Bodies/Funding A

promotion of this type of law in furtherance of government a
and transparency; 
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In the Caribbean, Jamaica follows Trinidad and Belize as the third CA
Article 19 – Universal 
Declaration of Human 
Rights 
 
“Everyone has the right 
to freedom of opinion and 
expression; this right 
includes freedom to hold 
opinions without 
interference and to seek, 
receive and impart 
information and ideas 
through any media and 
regardless of frontiers.” 
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country to enact such legislation. 
ATI PROCEDURES FOR THE APPLICANT 
 
 
A. How to Request Information 

 
 

 Step 1 
 

 Research 
 
 Research the topic thoroughly before making a request.     
 Fishing expeditions are usually an inefficient use of both   
 your time and ATI Personnel’s time and resources. 
     
 
 Step 2 
 
Where to Apply 
 

Use the Access to 
Information Road Map 
to discern what entity is 
most likely to have the 
information required 
and the names, 
addresses and location of  
Principal Officers  
ATI Offic

 Determine which Government entity is most likely to have     
 The documents containing the information desired and decide 
whether to make: 
  

i) an informal request for the documents (visit the  websites, 
check the ATI Road Map or call the Access Centre in each 
Ministry to find out if the information desired is already 
routinely disclosed or made available)  and 

ers  
                                                   or 
 

ii) a formal request under the Act for information which is    
 not readily available or already published   
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Application Forms 
will be available in 
hard copy from each 
Ministry, on-line at 
each Ministry’s 
website or at the 
ATI Unit’s webpage 
at www.jis.gov.jm 
  

SAMPLE BAD ATI 
APPLICATION LETTER 

 
Dear Sir1, 

My name is Mr. 
Brown2 and in the 
1970's some 
official person was 
declared persona 
non grata. There 
was a newspaper 
article on it.3 

Or  

I would like 
information on the 
Furniture Scandal4  

Sincerely 

Hurdell Brown 

1. Should be 
addressed to a 
specific 
government 
entity’s office 

2. Should 
indicate in letter 
his address, tel. 
Number etc for 
contact 
 
3.Should 
indicate the 
name of the 
paper if known 
 
4. Should 
specify the 
documents 
requested.  

Step 3 
 
A. Making Your Application for Information 
 
i.  To apply for access to official documents under the Act, complete      
 an Application form or write a letter requesting the    
    information desired. 
  
ii.  Applications may also be made by email, telephone  or fax. 
  
iii.      If a personal visit is made to the Public Authority to request  

     access, the Officer responsible for ATI applications will ask  
     that the request be put in writing in order to conform                                                               

        with the provisions of the Act. 
 
iv.   If for any reason, you are unable to do this, then the 

Officer should be so informed so that this may be done 
by him for you. 

 
v.  Be as specific as possible in the Application i.e.     

describe the subject matter of the records and, if 
known,  indicate the dates of the records, the places 
where they  originated, and the names of the 
originating persons or offices.  

vi.  State that the documents are requested under the ATI 
Act. It would be prudent to address the envelope in the 
following manner: "Access to   Information Act 
Request” or words to similar effect.  This will bring 
the letter to the attention of staff in the mailroom so 
that they may appreciate the need to forward it as 
quickly as possible to the Authority’s ATI personnel.  

vii.  The Officer responsible for ATI applications may be 
requested to assist in identifying the documents desired 
(S. 7 (3) (a)) 

   
viii.  A daytime telephone number should be included and such  
            other contact information as will make it easy for the Officer  

to remain in contact with you. This will aid the processing of  
your Application within the time specified.  



  
 

B. Amendment & Annotation of Your Personal Records 
 
 
 
i. Where an official document 
   containing personal information  
   about you is incomplete,  
   incorrect, out of date or misleading, 

SAMPLE GOOD ATI 
APPLICATION LETTER 

 
Principal Officer or other relevant Officer1  

 Name of Ministry 
Address of Ministry 

Re: Access to Information Act Request 

Dear: 
This is a request under the Access to 
Information A ct.2 

• I request that a copy of the following 
documents [or documents containing 
the following information] be provided 
to 
me:3___________________________
_______ 

I am aware that I am entitled to make this 
request under the Access if to Information Act 
and that if my request is denied I am entitled to 
know the grounds for this denial 4 

If possible, I would prefer to see the original 
documents in person rather than having copies 
made, in order to avoid copying fees.  

Sincerely,  

Name 
Address 
Telephone Number and email address 

1. Addresses letter to 

 ATI offices in the  

relevant Government  

Entity; 

 

2. Specifies law under 

which the  request  

is being made;  

                                     

3. Specifies documents

 requested;  

 

4. Establishes  

familiarity with  

the ATI Act 

 

 

   and is used or is available for use 
   by a government entity for  
   administrative purposes,  
   an Application may also be made  
   to have the document amended or 
   annotated. 

 
ii. This Application must be 
    in writing and must specify the  
    basis for making the claim and the 
    nature of the amendment or 
    annotation which you require. 
 
iii. Where an annotation is 

required, you must include, along 
with the Application, a statement 
specifying the correction which  
you feel needs to be made. 

 
iv. You will, in most 
     cases, be required to provide  
     verification of the truth of the  
     matters contained in this type of  
     Application. You may also be  
     asked to provide relevant  
     identification.    
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C. Responding to Your Application and Time Limits 
 

i. Receipt of your Application must be acknowledged in writing by the Public  
Authority to which it is addressed.  A decision must be made and you must be  
so informed within 30 days of receipt of the Application. The Act also allows  
for the extension of this time period by another 30 days which may only be done  
where there is reasonable cause to do so. 

 
     ii.  If access to the document is to be given, that also must be done within the 30 day 

time limit. 
 
    iii.   If you desire copies to be made, a fee will be chargeable.  You may, however, 

request a waiver, remission or reduction of those fees. You should note that the 
running of time will be suspended until a decision in whatever regard is made. 

 
 
 
D. Granting You Access to Documents 
 

Under the Act, you are entitled to view, listen to, inspect or have a copy or transcript 
made of the document requested. Access to information may be granted in a form 
other than that which you requested,  if to grant it in the form requested would prove 
detrimental to the preservation of the document or be inappropriate having regard to 
its physical state. 

 
 
 
E. Transfer of Applications 
 
 

i. Your Application may be transferred to another government entity if the    
document requested is held by that other entity or the subject matter of what you 
requested is more closely connected to that other entity’s functions. 

 
ii.          The transfer must be done not later than 14 days after receipt of  your   
        Application by the original government body 

 
iii.         You must be informed immediately of this transfer and told the details of the 
         receiving government body and personnel. 
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F. Release/Denial of Request 
 
Official documents requested will be released provided they do not fall in any of the nine (9) 
categories of exempt documents under the Act. Exempt documents are those which: 
 

- affect security, defense or international relations (S. 14 (a)) 
 
- relate to law enforcement (S. 16) 

 
- are subject to legal privilege (S. 17) 

 
- affect national economy (S. 18) 

 
- reveal government’s deliberative processes (S. 19) 

 
- relate to business affairs (S. 20) 

 
- relate to heritage sites (S. 21) 

 
- affect personal privacy (S. 22) 

 
- are Cabinet Documents (S. 15) 
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G. Applicable Fees 
  
i.  Fees under the Act are chargeable only 

for the reproduction of any official 
document (S. 12). You are not liable to 
pay fees for inspection, viewing, or 
listening to any official document to 
which access has been granted. 

SAMPLE LETTER APPEALING FEES 

Permanent Secretary or Principal Officer  
Name of Public Authority 

Address of Public Authority 

Re: Access to Information Act Application for 
Internal Review 

Dear: 
This is an application for Internal Review under the 
Access to Information Act. On [date] I requested 
documents under the Act. My request was assigned 
the following Reference Number: [000 000-000].  

On [date], I received a response to my request in a 
letter signed by [official's name] stating that access to 
the document requested would be granted upon 
payment of [$ amount of fees] I am appealing the 
amount of the fee charged.  

Or [Name of responsible Minister, official address 
etc.] 

On [date], I received a response to my request in a 
letter signed by [official's name] stating that access to 
the document requested would be granted upon 
payment of [$ amount of fees] 

I believe that I am entitled to a waiver/ reduction of 
fees. Disclosure of the documents I requested is in 
the public interest as the information is likely to 
contribute significantly to public understanding of the 
operations or activities of the government.  

[or] I cannot afford any of the amounts charged as I 
am a student engaged in research at the University of 
the West Indies.  

Thank you for consideration of this appeal.  

Sincerely,  

Name 
Address

 
ii.   You will be required to pay such fees as 

are applicable before the actual 
reproduction of the document is done 

 
iii.  A request for a waiver, reduction or 

remission of fees may be made under S. 
12 (2) of the Act. 

 
 
H. Your Rights of Appeal 
 
i. You have a right of Appeal with respect to: 
 

-  refusal of a grant of access 
- the grant of access to only some of 

the documents requested 
- deferral of the grant of access 
- refusal to amend or annotate a 

personal record 
- the charging of, or amount of a fee  

 
 
ii. You must make your Appeal in     
     writing [Internal Review or Appeal to   
     the Appeals Tribunal if a decision has    
     already been made at Internal Review  
     or where Internal Review is not applicable]  
 
iii. You must utilise the Internal   
      Review Process (where applicable)   
      before an appeal may be made to the  
      Appeals Tribunal 
 
iv. Internal Review will not be applicable if   
     the original decision on the Application   



  
 

     for access to information was made by the Permanent Secretary or Principal Officer, 
     or the Responsible Minister or where no decision on the original application  was made. 
 
 
 
 
 SAMPLE LETTER 

APPEALING EXEMPTION 
 

Principal Officer or other relevant Officer 
Name of Public Authority 
Address of Public Authority 

Re: Access to Information Act Appeal  

Dear _________________________: 
This is an appeal under the Access to Information Act. 

On [date] I requested documents under the Access to 
Information Act. My request was assigned the following 
Reference Number: [000 000-000].  

On [date], I received a response to my request in a letter signed 
by [official's name.] denying my request. I now wish to obtain 
a review of the denial of my request. 

I believe the documents that were withheld must be disclosed 
under the ATI Act because 
___________________________________________________  

Thank you for consideration of this appeal.  

Sincerely,  

Name 
Address 
Telephone Number  
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A FEW ATI FAQS  
                                                 (Frequently Asked Questions) 
 
 
1. What are my rights under the ATI ACT? 
 
The ATI Act gives you the legal right to see official documents held by Government Bodies. 
You may also ask for personal information to be changed if it is incomplete, misleading, out 
of date, or incorrect. 
 
 
2. What are Official Documents? 
 
Official Documents are documents in the possession, custody or control of a government 
body and which are connected to its functions. 
 
 
3. Can I see all Official Documents? 
 
No. There are documents which are exempt from disclosure under the Act. These are 
documents which it is believed not be disclosed in order to protect essential public interests 
or the private/business affairs of others. Similar statutes internationally recognize these 
concerns as well and make similar provisions. 
 
Some exempt documents are however subject to public interest tests. Release of exempt 
documents may also be achieved through an Order of the Minister responsible for 
Information or after the expiration of 20 years after their creation, or such shorter or longer 
period as the Minister may specify by Order. 
  
 
4. What are the types of documents which are exempt from disclosure? 
 
Documents pertaining to: 
 
            -    Security, defense, international relations; (S. 14 (a)) 
            -    The Cabinet; (S. 15) 

- Law enforcement; (S. 16) 
- Legal privilege (S. 17) 
- The national economy (S. 18) 
- Government’s deliberative processes; (S. 19) 
- Business affairs of others (trade secrets, etc.) (S. 20) 
- Personal privacy (S. 22) 
- Heritage sites (S. 21)  
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5. How do I make an ATI request? 
 
Identify the document you wish to have access to and the government body most likely to 
have it. 
 
Write/phone in/email or fax your request giving as much information as possible about the 
document in order to help the Officer assigned for those purposes to quickly retrieve it. 
 
Include contact information which will allow the Officer responsible for ATI applications to 
remain in contact with you. This will assist the Officer in obtaining clarifications from you 
and enable the observance of the timeline (30 days from receipt of Application) prescribed 
for finding and granting access as the case may be. 
 
 
6. What must a government entity do when it gets my request? 
 

- Inform you in writing that it has so received it. 
 
- Deal with the Application as quickly as possible and inform you of any 

difficulties being experienced. This will help both parties in possibly coming to a 
mutual workable understanding, particularly if the request is a complex one (eg. 
large volume of documents requested) or where it will take longer than the 
prescribed time allowed within which to find the document. 

 
- Inform you within 30 days of receipt of the Application whether or not the 

information will be disclosed and grant access or inform you of your rights of 
appeal as the case may be. 

 
 
7. How much will it cost me? 
 
Fees are payable for the reproduction of documents. You are not required to pay if you wish 
to view, inspect or listen to the document.  Cost for reproduction may be obtained from the 
relevant government entity.  
 
 
8. How will the documents be given to me? 
 
Generally, in the form in which you request it – you may be allowed to view, listen to, 
inspect or be given a copy of the document. However, access may be given in a form other 
than that which you have requested if there is a need to preserve the document or its physical 
state makes the form of access requested inappropriate. 
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9. Can I have documents about me corrected? 
 
Yes, provided they have been or are being used by the government body for an 
administrative purpose. 
 
 
10. How do I ask for these corrections about me to be done? 
 
You apply by letter or on the prescribed application form, phone in, email or fax your 
request. 
 
 
12. What kinds of appeal do I have? 
 
The grounds on which you have the right to Appeal include: 
 

- refusal of a grant of access 
- the grant of access to only some of the documents requested 
- deferral of the grant of access 
- refusal to amend or annotate a personal record 
- the charging of, or amount of a fee  

 
 
13. What are the Offences and Penalties under the Act? 
  
Under the Act, a Government employee commits an offence if: 
 

- he alters or defaces, blocks or erases, destroys or conceals an official document to 
which the public has a right of access, with the intention of preventing its 
disclosure. 

 
- A fine of a maximum of five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000.00) or six (6) 

months imprisonment or both are applicable. 
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APPENDIX I 
 
RELATED STATUTES 
 
 
 
 
  

The Archives Act 
 

The Copyright Act 
 

The Copyright (Amendment Act) 1999 
 

The Copyright (Librarians and Archivists) (Copying 
of Copyright Material) Regulations 1993 

 
The Copyright (Recording for Archives) Designated 

Bodies Order, 1993 
 

The Copyright (Educational Establishments) Order, 
1993 

The Corruption Prevention Act 
 

The Interpretation Act 
 

The Official Secrets Act 
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APPENDIX II 
 
Recommended Reading and Websites  
 
Publications and Reports 
 

 
 

Access to Information: Making it Work for Canadians  
Report of the Access to Information Review Task Force 2002 (www.tbs-sct.gc.ca) 
 
The Right to Know, the Right to Live; Access to Information and Socio-Economic Justice 
Richard Calland & Allison Tilley (www.opendemocracy.org.za) 
 
How Journalists use the Federal Access to Information Act  
Access to Information: Making it Work for Canadians 2002 (www.tbs-sct.gc.ca) 
 
“A Whistleblower’s Survival Guide – Courage without Martyrdom”  
A Government Accountability Project (www.whisltleblower.org/gap)  
 
Report of the Joint Select Committee on the Bill shortly entitled “The Access to 
Information Act 2002”. (Jamaica) 
 
COPYRIGHT – Interpreting the Law for Libraries, Archives and Information Services – 
Graham P. Cornish (Available at bookshops island wide) 
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Websites 
 
www.jis.gov.jm                                         www.accessreports.com 
 
www.opendemocracy.org.za                              
 
www.pro.gov.uk                                                 www.foia.tt.gov (Trinidad) 
 
www.atiunit.gov.org *                                        www.arma.org   
                                                                            (Association of Records   
                                                                             Managers and  
                                                                             Administrators) 
 
www.freedominfo.org                                        www.foilaw.net 
 
www.aclu.org (The American Civil Liberties Union) 
 
The websites of Phase I Entities may be found in the Access to Information Road Map. 
Those of remaining Ministries and some Agencies etc. will be made available in the full 
Road Map text in due course.   
 
 
* Website under construction         
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APPENDIX III 
 
THE ATI NETWORK - KNOWING EACH OTHER 
 
MINISTRY INFORMATION & DOCUMENTATION MANAGERS  
                                  AT A GLANCE 
 

 

Claudette Milford-Allen             Ministry of Agriculture 

Director, Information &               927-1731/977-9169 

Documentation                              www. moa.gov.jm 

                                                         cmilford-allen@moa.gov.jm 

 

 

Reta Whittaker                               Ministry of Commerce, Science  

Director, Information &                & Technology 

Documentation                                929-8990-9/960-6056 

                www.mct.gov.jm  

                                                 csdlibrary@hotmail 

 

 

Marlene Hines                               Ministry of Education, Youth  

Information Manager                     & Culture 

                                                         922-1400-1/922-3398 

                                                         www.moec.gov.jm 

                                                      

 

Helen Rumbolt                              Ministry of Finance & Planning 

Director, Documentation &         922-8600/932-5033 

Information Services                    www.mof.gov.jm                            

                                                        helen@mof.gov.jm 
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Renee Brown                                 Ministry of Foreign Affairs &  

Head, Information Systems         Foreign Trade   

& Records                                      926-4220/968-8161 

                                                        www.mfaft.gov.jm  

                                                        librarymfaja@cwjamaica.com 

 

 

Vinnese Dias                                 Ministry of Health   

Manager, Information                 967-1100/967-2390                                    

Documentation Services              www.moh.gov.jm                                       

                                                       diasv@moh.gov.jm 

 

 

Cassey Daley                                  Ministry of Industry & Tourism  

Director, Human Resource          920-4924/926-0649 

                                                         www.tpdco.org/mit  

                                                         cdaley@tpdco.org 

 

 

Brenda Smith                                 Ministry of Justice     

Information Manager                    906-4908/906-0674 

                                                          www.moj.gov.jm  

                                                          bsmith@moj.gov.jm 
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Portia Magnus                                Ministry of Labour & Social 

Director, Records                           Security      

Management                                   922-9500-9 

& Information                                www.minlab.gov.jm                     

                                                          portiamagnus@yahoo.com 

 

 

Althea Scott                                   Ministry of Local Government,  

Director -                       Community Development 

Information &                               & Sport     

Documentation                              754-0994 

                                                        www.mlgcd.gov.jm  

                                                        ascot@mlgcd.com 

                                                        psoffice@mlgcd.gov.jm 

 

 

Claudette McPherson                     Ministry of National Security  

Director, Information &                 906-4908-9/968-7410 

Documentation                                www.mnsj.gov.jm 

                                                          claudettemcpherson@yahoo.com  

                   

 

Jacqueline McGibbon                    Office of the Cabinet    

Information Resources                  927-4101-2 

Officer                                              www.cabinet.gov.jm  

                                                          cablib@cwjamaica.com 
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Rohan McCalla                              Office of the Prime Minister   

Information Resources                  927-4101-2 
Manager                                         rsmccalla@opm.gov.jm               
    
 
 
Myrtle Williams                             Ministry of Transport & Works  
Documentation Officer                  754-1900-1 

                                                          www.mtw.gov.jm  

                                                         miguelann@yahoo.com 

 

 

Claudette Thomas                         Ministry of Water & Housing   

Director, Documentation              920-9738 
Centre                                            www.mwh.gov.jm  
                                                        cthomas@n5.com 
                                                        cztee@yahoo.com                                            
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